Optimizing stem cell collection through CXCR4 antagonists

Mahaseth Hemchandra, Jonathan Kaufman

Winship Cancer Institute, Emory University, Atlanta, GA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. Biology and mechanisms of stem cells mobilization
- 4. Current mobilization strategies and their outcomes
- 5. Clinical development of plerixafor
- 6. Phase i-ii studies in stem cell mobilization
- 7. Phase iii studies
- 8. Characteristics of plerixafor mobilized stem cells and its role in allogeneic transplantation
- 9. Conclusion
- 10. References

1. ABSTRACT

Currently, nearly all the autologous stem cell transplantation and majority of allogeneic stem cell transplantation are performed using circulating peripheral blood stem cells. At steady conditions, less than 0.05% of the peripheral white cells are believed to be CD34+, a surrogate marker for stem cells. The content of hematopoietic CD34+ cells in the blood can be increased dramatically following recovery from myelosuppressive chemotherapy and/or the administration of hematopoietic growth factors (GM-CS or G-CSF), and an engrafting dose of stem cells can be collected by large volume apheresis following hematopoietic cytokine treatment. However these strategies fail to result in an adequate number of hematopoietic cells in 5-30% of the cases, limiting the ability of patients to receive high dose chemotherapy and stem cell transplantation in the treatment of their cancer. Plerixafor, a CXCR4 antagonist has been found to be a potent stem cell mobilizer and it's superiority used in combination with G-CSF over G-CSF alone has been seen in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and multiple myeloma in double blind randomized phase III clinical trials, leading to FDA (Food and Drug Administration) approval. This review article describes the development of plerixafor to mobilize stem cells and optimal strategies for stem cell collection from peripheral blood.

2. INTRODUCTION

In 2010, there will be an estimated 20,180 new cases of multiple myeloma (MM), with an estimated 10,650 deaths, and 65,540 estimated new cases of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL), with an estimated 20,210 deaths. Similarly, there will be estimated 17,660 new cases of acute leukemia (myeloid and lymphoid), with an estimated 10,370 deaths (1). Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (auto-HSCT) is the standard of care for patients with MM or chemosensitive relapsed high- or intermediate-grade NHL, providing necessary hematopoietic support after the administration of high dose chemotherapy (HDT) (2-6). Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (allo-HSCT) is the standard of care in patients with intermediate- or high-risk acute myelogenous leukemia (7) and with high risk acute lymphocytic leukemia (8). Increasing number of auto- and allo-HSCT is performed worldwide. Center for International Blood and Marrow Transplant Research (CIBMTR) estimated that approximately 30,000 auto- and 25,000 allo-HSCT were performed worldwide in 2009 (9).

Historically bone marrow has been used as the source of hematopoietic stem cells (the pluripotent progenitor cells that are capable of self-renewal as well as differentiating to a defined set of differentiated progenitors). In 1980s, studies in animals and human (10-13) revealed that peripheral blood stem cells (PBSC) can potentially be used as a source of stem cells to reconstitute the bone marrow after HDT. Currently almost all the auto-HSCT and a majority of allo-HSCT are performed using circulating PBSC (9). PBSC can be harvested without the need of general anesthesia and discomfort of multiple of bone marrow aspirations. Patients with metastasis to bone marrow can be transplanted with auto-HSCT as there is a potential for harvesting a product that is free of malignant cells (14). Compared to bone marrow derived stem cells, transplantation with PBSC leads to faster reconstitution of bone marrow with hematopoietic cells resulting in shorter time to neutrophil and platelet recovery in both, auto-HSCT (15, 16) and allo-HSCT (17-19) settings. PBSC reduces time to transfusion independence and the period of intravenous antibiotic administration (20). It also improves the immune reconstitution over bone marrow grafts after allotransplantation (21).

Hematopoietic stem cells reside in the bone marrow and circulate in a very low number in blood, comprising therefore approximately 0.01-0.05% of cells. Therefore, harvesting stem cells from the blood under steady state is challenging. A major factor in the success of auto-HSCT is the kinetics of hematopoietic recovery following high-dose chemotherapy which is, in turn, influenced by the dose of reinfused stem and progenitor cells (22, 23). Although no absolute thresholds exist, the usual minimum number of CD34+ cells (a surrogate marker for hematopoietic stem cells) required for proceeding with autologous stem cell transplant and sufficient to ensure prompt hematopoietic reconstitution are thought to be 2.0 to 2.5×10^6 CD34+ cells/kg body weight. The optimum number to ensure rapid hematopoietic reconstitution is at least 5.0x10⁶ CD34+ cells/kg (24). Higher number of reinfused CD34+ cells are associated with faster neutrophil engraftment (defined as first of 3 consecutive days where the absolute neutrophil count is $>0.5 \times 10^9$ cells/L), platelet engraftment (defined as first day where the platelet count is $>20 \times 10^9$ /L in absence of transfusion for previous 7 days) (24, 25) and with decreased need for transfusions of red cells and platelets or administration of prophylactic antibiotics (25). In murine models, number of transplanted hematopoietic stem cells correlates with speed of immune reconstitution with more rapid recovery of T and B lymphocytes (26). Some studies even report improved survival in patients receiving higher dose of cells (27, 28). However, benefits of re-infusing $>5.0 \times 10^6$ CD34+ cells/kg are not well defined. Since harvesting the minimum required PBSC from patients with apheresis under steady state conditions is not practical, mobilization of stem cells to peripheral blood from their niche in the marrow is pivotal to the success of transplantation. The number of previous chemotherapy cycles, peripheral blood white cell counts and prior irradiation are commonly reported prognostic factors for poor PBSC mobilization (29, 30). Since the donors for allo-HSCT are usually healthy volunteers, failure to mobilize sufficient PBSC is rare in this setting. However, a major pitfall in auto-HSCT is that a significant number of patients fail to mobilize a sufficient number of CD34+ cells

required for successful hematopoietic reconstitution of bone marrow. This article will focus on mobilization of stem cells for auto-HSCT and review a number of developments which have improved our understanding of the biology and mechanisms of stem cell mobilization.

3. BIOLOGY AND MECHANISMS OF STEM CELLS MOBILIZATION

Hematopoietic stem cells (HPSCs) reside in bone marrow in a highly organized three dimensional microenvironment comprised of stromal cells, osteoblasts, osteoclasts, endothelial cells and extracellular matrix, which is rich in collagens, fibronectins and proteoglycans. HPSCs are anchored to the marrow microenvironment by interactions between wide range of adhesion molecules expressed on cell-surface of HPSCs and their ligands expressed on the marrow stroma. The adhesion molecules expressed on HSPCs cell surface include CXC receptor 4 (CXCR4), CXCR2, leukocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1), very late antigen-4 (VLA4), tyrosine kinase receptor c-kit, Mac-1, the cell surface glycoproteins CD44 and CD62L. The cognate ligands for these adhesion molecules expressed on the bone marrow stroma include stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1, also known as CXCL12), Gro β , vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), kit ligand (KL), CD62, hyaluronic acid, Pselctin and glycoprotein ligand-1 (31-33).

Inhibition of the adhesion molecule-ligand interaction between HPSCs and stromal cells result in improved stem cell mobilization. Substantial evidence exists as proof of this concept. Soluble c-kit receptor mobilizes CD34+ cells by disrupting the interaction of ligand with c-kit on HPSCs cell surface (34). Treatment with anti-VLA4 antibodies in combination with G-CSF (Granulocyte Colony Stimulating Factor) results in 5-8 fold enhancement in stem cell mobilization in mice and primates (35). The interaction between SDF-1 and its receptor CXCR4 regulates hematopoietic stem cell trafficking and survival in the bone marrow microenvironment. During stem cell mobilization with G-CSF, expression of SDF-1 protein and mRNA in the marrow is down regulated following G-CSF binding to receptors on monocytic lineage cells (macrophages and osteoclasts) in the bone marrow microenvironment (36-39). Plerixafor, the subject of this review, mobilizes stem cells by its inhibitory effect on SDF-1/CXCR4 interaction. Disruption of the interactions between adhesion molecules and their ligands is the basis for clinical stem cell mobilization. Better understanding of the interactions between stem cells and bone marrow microenvironment may result into new targets for mobilization.

4. CURRENT MOBILIZATION STRATEGIES AND THEIR OUTCOMES

Cytokine induced mobilization with or without myelosuppressive chemotherapy is currently the most common practice. The myeloid-acting hematopoietic growth factors GM-CSF (Granulocyte Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor, also known as sargramostim or leukine) and G-CSF (Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor, also known as filgrastim or neupogen) are approved by FDA (Food and Drug Administration) for mobilization of stem cells. A comparative study by Weaver *et al* (40) reported greater median CD34+ cell yield, requirement for fewer apheresis sessions, faster neutrophil and platelet recovery, fewer transfusions, fewer hospitalizations and episodes of fever in patients mobilized with G-CSF than GM-CSF. In addition, GM-CSF is thought to be more toxic than G-CSF (41). Consequently, the use of GM-CSF as a single agent for stem cell mobilization is comparatively rare, although it is used in combination with G-CSF (42).

G-CSF is usually administered at 10mcg/kg/day subcutaneously daily for 4 days before leukapheresis and is continued until the last day. Its efficacy as a single agent was established in a phase III trial by Schmitz et al (43), where G-CSF mobilized PBSCs were superior to their counterparts harvested from bone marrow. Biological mechanism through which G-CSF causes stem cell mobilization is not completely understood. As described earlier, G-CSF induces pleiotropic functional changes in bone marrow microenvironment that include decreasing SDF-1expression at the gene and protein level and increasing the numbers of myeloid precurosrs and granulocytes in the marrow microenvironment with concomitant release of neutrophil elastase and serine proteases cathepsin G. The primary role for G-CSF on CXCL12 mRNA levels in mobilization is supported by studies that show that G-CSF can mobilize stem cells in protease deficient mice (45), highlighting this mechanism. Recent studies indicate that G-CSF binds to receptors on bone marrow osteoclasts and /or macrophages leading to the release of a soluble mediator that down regulates SDF1/CXCL12 mRNA expression in osteoblasts and mesenchymal stromal cells leading to down-regulation of CXCL12 expressed by these cells (39, 44).

After transplantation with G-CSF mobilized PBSCs, the median time to neutrophil engraftment has been reported to be 11 days and to platelet engraftment around 11-14 days (46, 47). In general, mobilization with G-CSF is well tolerated, approximately 33% of treated patients report bone pain. Rare, but serious adverse events such as myocardial infarction, cerebral ischemia, splenic rupture, sickle cell crisis in sickle cell disease patients and acute respiratory distress syndrome have been reported (31). Despite the remarkable success of G-CSF, it has been limited by insufficient mobilization and collection of stem cells in patients. Micallef et al (48) reported unsuccessful stem cell mobilization in 35% of NHL patients. Desikan et al (49) reported that 23% of multiple myeloma patients who were treated with G-CSF as single agent failed to mobilize sufficient PBSCs to support tandem transplantations.

Addition of chemotherapy to G-CSF results into higher CD34+ cell yields in fewer apheresis sessions (46, 47, 49-51). Treatment with chemotherapy also helps with treatment of underlying disease. However, significant proportion of the patients fails to mobilize sufficient CD34+ cells even with combination of chemotherapy and G-CSF. A retrospective study by Pusic *et al* (50) reported suboptimal CD34+ cells yield in approximately 18% of patients treated with G-CSF alone and with G-CSF plus chemotherapy. In addition, higher yields of CD34+ cells with chemotherapy may be offset by associated unpredictable time to collect, increased risk of infection, cost, need for transfusion support and hospitalization; and other general complications of chemotherapy. Consequently, there remains a need for additional strategies to enhance stem cell mobilization for patients undergoing autologous peripheral blood stem cell transplantation.

5. CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT OF PLERIXAFOR

Plerixafor (1-1'- (1,4-phenylenebis-(methylene))-bis-1,4,8,11-tetraazacyclotetradecane), also known as AMD3100 or Mozobil is small bicyclam molecule developed by Genzyme corporation, Cambridge, MA for mobilization of stem cells. It reversibly and selectively binds CXCR4 disrupting the interaction with its ligand SDF-1, thereby releasing the hematopoietic CD34+ stem cells from bone marrow to the circulation (52-54). In addition to homing hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow, CXCR4 is a co-receptor for T-cell tropic HIV strains entry into CD4+ T cells. Since plerixafor was noted to block the HIV entry into T cells (55, 56), it was originally developed as a treatment for HIV.

In a phase I trial in healthy volunteers (57), plerixafor at single doses of up to 80 mcg/kv iv was tolerated well without any grade 2 toxicity or need for dose reduction. The adverse effects experienced by the healthy volunteers were mild gastrointestinal symptoms, such as nausea and diarrhea. It was poorly absorbed when given by mouth. When given subcutaneously, the bioavailability was 87% and elimination half life, 3.6 hours. Interestingly, all subjects experienced a dose-related elevation of the white blood cell count, from 1.5 to 3.1 times the baseline, which peaked at 6h after plerixafor administration and returned to the baseline 24 h after dosing. The same group conducted another phase I trial (58) in 40 HIV infected patients, who received continuous infusion of plerixafor from 2.5 mcg/kg/hr to 160 mcg/kg/hr. The trial was halted at 160mcg/kg/hr due to unexpected asymptomatic premature ventricular contractions. Most patients in 80- and 160 mcg/kg/hr cohorts reported paresthesias. Although treatment with plerixafor had no significant effects on HIV viral load, leukocytosis was again observed in all patients, with an estimated maximum effect of 3.4 times baseline. With minimal clinical efficacy on HIV, repeated observation of profound leukocytosis in plerixafor-treated individuals and emerging evidence for the critical role of the CXCR4-SDF-1 axis in stem cell trafficking, development of plerixafor as antiretroviral therapy was aborted and the focus was re-directed towards its potential clinical use in hematopoietic stem cell mobilization.

6. PHASE I-II STUDIES IN STEM CELL MOBILIZATION

Multiple phase I and II studies have been done to optimize feasibility and efficacy of plerixafor for

hematopoietic stem cell mobilization. Liles et al (59) studied single subcutaneous injection of plerixafor in healthy volunteers at doses 40-240 mcg/kg, which resulted in dose dependent increase (4-10 fold) in CD34+cells, beginning at 1 hour post dose, peaking at 9 hours and then returning to baseline by 24 hours. In another phase I study by same group (60), plerixafor at dose of 160 mcg/kg single dose subcutaneously was administered on day 5 following 4 days of treatment with G-CSF (10 mcg/kg/day). It resulted into 4 fold increase in G-CSF stimulated CD34+ cells and the authors concluded that plerixafor could be combined with G-CSF to further improve the stem cell yields. To study stem cell mobilization in patients, who received prior chemotherapy, Devine and colleagues (61) treated multiple myeloma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma patients with single subcutaneous dose of plerixafor at 160 or 240 mcg/kg. Up to 7 fold increase in CD34+ cells was observed with 240 mcg/kg, suggesting plerixafor was an effective agent to mobilize hematopoietic stem cells in patients previously treated with chemotherapy. Plerixafor was well tolerated up to 240 mcg/kg as single subcutaneous injection in these studies, with mild and reversible adverse events, such as injection site ertythema, nausea, abdominal distension and cramps. Previously observed preventricular contractions were not seen.

Flomenberg and colleagues (62) compared the combination of plerixafor and G-CSF with G-CSF alone in a phase II study with crossover design. Twenty five patients with myeloma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma were assigned to receive either plerixafor (160 or 240 mcg/kg) with G-CSF or G-CSF alone as their initial mobilization regimen. After two weeks washout period, they were remobilized with alternative regimen. Plerixafor plus G-CSF was superior to G-CSF alone in regards to CD34+ cells harvested per leukapheresis, number of leukaphereses required to reach the target CD34+ cell count and total CD34+ cell yield. All the patients (100%) reached the target of $2x10^6$ CD34+ cells/kg after two leukaphereses compared to 64% with G-CSF alone. Furthermore, all the nine patients, who failed to yield the minimum $2x10^6$ cells/kg were successfully remobilized with plerixafor and G-CSF. Overall the combined regimen was safe, effective and superior to G-CSF alone.

In a compassionate use protocol by Calandra and colleagues (63), 115 patients with MM, NHL and Hodgkin's lymphoma, who failed to yield $2x10^6$ CD34+cells/kg during initial mobilization with cytokine or chemotherapy were remobilized with plerixafor and G-CSF. This treatment resulted into successful remobilization of CD34+ cells in 60.3% NHL, 71.4% MM and 76.5% Hodgkin's lymphoma patients. The neutrophil and platelet engraftment were endurable and the combination treatment was well tolerated. This study suggested that plerixafor with G-CSF could be beneficial to patients who failed prior mobilization with chemotherapy and/or cytokines. Additional studies (64-66) also demonstrated safe and successful mobilization of CD34+ cells in heavily pretreated patients with NHL, MM and Hodgkin's lymphoma. Stewart and colleagues (67) revisited the assessment of pharmacokinetics (PK) and pharmacodynamics (PD) of plerixafor in NHL and MM patients. They were comparable to the healthy volunteers and supported the current recommended dose and timing of apheresis (G-CSF - 10 mcg/kg/day subcutaneously for 4 days in the morning and plerixafor - 240 mcg/kg s.c. on the evening before apheresis, which is usually initiated 10 to 11 hours after plerixafor dosing). This schedule was implemented in both phase III trials with MM and NHL patients.

7. PHASE III STUDIES

Based on the promising results of phase I-II studies, two phase III randomized, double-blind, placebo controlled, prospective, multicenter studies of plerixafor in patients with NHL (68) and MM (69) have been completed and published. The stem cell mobilization protocol in both of these trials was identical. Randomized patients received G-CSF (10 mcg/kg) subcutaneously daily in the morning for up to 8 days. Beginning on evening of day 4 and continuing daily for up to 4 days, patients received either plerixafor (240 mcg/kg) or placebo. Apheresis sessions were started in the morning of day 5 and continued for up to 4 days or until a target CD34+ cells of $5x10^6$ cells/kg (NHL study) or $6x10^6$ /kg (MM study) was reached.

In the NHL study (68), patients (n=298) with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma requiring an autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation were randomized 1:1 to receive plerixafor plus G-CSF or placebo plus G-CSF. The primary endpoint was proportion of patients reaching a target of $\geq 5 \times 10^6$ CD34+ cells/kg in 4 or less days of apheresis. The secondary endpoints were number of patients who achieved a minimum of $2x10^6$ CD34+ cells/kg in 4 days of apheresis; number of days of apheresis required to reach the target of $\ge 5 \times 10^6$ CD34+ cells /kg; the fold-increase in the number of circulating CD34+ cells before and after the 1st study treatment (day 4 and day 5); time to neutrophil and platelet engraftment; graft durability at 100 days, 6 months and 12 months; and adverse as well as serious adverse events. A significantly greater proportion of patients in the study arm achieved the primary endpoint (59% vs 20%, p<0.001). Similarly higher proportion of patients in the study arm achieved the secondary efficacy endpoint of collecting a minimum of $2x10^6$ CD34+ cells/kg in 4 days of apheresis (87% vs 47%, p<0.001). The time required to reach $\geq 5 \times 10^6$ CD34+ cells/kg was significantly shorter in the study arm (p<0.001). The median foldincrease in the number of circulating CD34+ cells on 5th day was higher in the plerixafor arm (5 vs 1.4, p<0.001). Median time to neutrophil and platelet engraftment in each group was similar, 10 days for neutrophil and 20 days for platelets. There were two graft failures in plerixafor group and none in the placebo group. The authors attributed the graft failure to pre-existing myelodysplastic syndrome with chromosome 5/7 abnormalities one patient and chromosome 6 mutations (later on developed acute myeloid leukemia) in the second patient. Patients failing to collect a minimum $2x10^6$ cells/kg in less than 4 apheresis days were allowed to be rescued with plerixafor plus G-CSF. 33/52 patients in placebo group and 4/10 in plerixafor group were

successfully re-mobilized to yield targeted minimum of $2x10^6$ cells (70). A total of 7% patients in plerixafor arm compared to 35% in the placebo arm failed the mobilization process. Plerixafor was well tolerated. The most commonly observed adverse events were diarrhea, nausea and injection site erythema.

In the Multiple Myeloma study (69), patients (n=302) eligible for high dose chemotherapy and autologous stem cell transplantation were randomized 1:1 to receive plerixafor plus G-CSF or placebo plus G-CSF. The primary endpoint was proportion of patients reaching a target of $\geq 6x10^6$ CD34+ cells/kg in 2 or less days of apheresis. The secondary endpoints were percentage of patients achieving a target of $\geq 6x10^6$ CD34+ cells/kg in 4 or less days of apheresis; percentage of patients achieving a minimum of $2x10^6$ CD34+ cells/kg in 4 days of apheresis; number of days of apheresis required to reach the target of $\geq 6 \times 10^6$ CD34+ cells /kg; time to neutrophil and platelet engraftment; graft durability at 100 days, 6 months and 12 months; and adverse as well as serious adverse events. A significantly greater proportion of patients in plerixafor group reached the primary endpoint compared to placebo group (72% vs 34%, p<0.001). Similarly, greater proportion of patients in plerixafor group than in placebo group achieved secondary endpoint of collecting $\geq 6x10^6$ CD34+ cells/kg (76% vs 51%, p < 0.001) and $\ge 2x10^6$ CD34+ cells/kg (95% vs 88%, p=0.031) in 4 or fewer days of apheresis. The CD34+ cell count in circulation increased 4.8 fold from day 4 to day 5 in plerixafor group compared to 1.7 fold in placebo group (p<0.001). The transplantation outcomes were similar in both groups, with median time to neutrophil and platelet engraftment of 11 and 18 days respectively. Graft failure was not observed in any group. Seven patients in placebo group compared to none in plerixafor group failed to mobilize sufficient CD34+ cells and they were all successfully rescued with plerixafor. As in NHL study, plerixafor was well tolerated. Both studies clearly demonstrate the safety and efficacy of plerixafor. Based on results of the two studies, plerixafor in combination with G-CSF was approved by FDA for mobilization of hematopoietic stem cells in NHL and MM.

8. CHARACTERISTICS OF PLERIXAFOR MOBILIZED STEM CELLS AND ITS ROLE IN ALLOGENEIC TRANSPLANTATION

The CD34+ cells mobilized with plerixafor are intrinsically different compared to their counterparts mobilized with G-CSF. Relatively larger proportion of plerixafor-mobilized CD34+ cells are in G1 phase of cell cycles; and express CXCR4 and VLA-4 on the cell surface (71). Higher proportion of plerixafor-mobilized stem cells have more primitive phenotype, CD34+/CD38- (72). CD34+ cells mobilized by plerixafor include more T-, Band NK cell precursors (73). Concern for GVHD in patients transplanted with allograft containing more T- and B-cell precursors is natural. However, a study in mouse model demonstrated no difference in the rate of GVHD or T-cell function with allograft mobilized by plerixafor (33). Devine and colleagues (74) demonstrated the safety and efficacy of

plerixafor in mobilizing blood hematopoietic progenitors in the setting of allogeneic stem cell transplantation. 25 HLA matched sibling donors were mobilized with single dose of subcutaneous plerixafor (250 mcg/kg) without G-CSF. Apheresis in two thirds of donors collected sufficient CD34+ cells in one apheresis and all (100%) collected sufficient stem cells following 2 apheresis sessions. No adverse events greater than grade one was noted in any donor. Allografts had higher number of T, B and NK cells. Neutrophil and platelet engraftment was prompt and respectively 10 and 12 days. With a median follow up of 277 days after allo-transplantation, grade 2-4 acute GVHD was noted in 35% of patients. This pilot trial suggests that plerixafor may be a safe alternative to commonly used G-CSF for allograft mobilization, where volunteer donors do not have to go through cumbersome procedure of daily G-CSF injections for 4-6 days. Trials studying different doses, schedules and route of plerixafor administration in donors for allograft mobilization are ongoing (www.clinical trials.gov).

9. CONCLUSION

Plerixafor is an effective, safe and FDA approved regimen for mobilization of hematopoietic stem cells required for autologous transplantation. In combination with G-CSF, it yields higher number of CD34+cells in fewer apheresis sessions. Plerixafor effective in patients who fail to mobilize sufficient CD34 cells with conventional regimen of growth factor with or without chemotherapy. Its safety and efficacy in mobilization of allograft are promising; however a randomized study is needed to confirm them. Many questions remain unanswered. Should plerixafor be used in the upfront setting or only to rescue those who fail to mobilize with conventional treatment? What is the appropriate route and time of plerixafor administration? Cost and benefit analyses of using Plerixafor as mobilization agent have been recently performed and suggest that this agent is relatively cost effective compared to G-CSF alone in poorly-mobilizing patients (75).

10. REFERENCES

1. A. Jemal, R. Siegel, J. Xu and E. Ward: Cancer Statistics, 2010. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2010)

2. B. T. Hennessy, E. O. Hanrahan and P. A. Daly: Non-Hodgkin lymphoma: an update. *Lancet Oncol*, 5(6), 341-53 (2004)

3. M. L. Villanueva and J. M. Vose: The role of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Clin Adv Hematol Oncol*, 4(7), 521-30 (2006)

4. T. Philip, C. Guglielmi, A. Hagenbeek, R. Somers, H. Van der Lelie, D. Bron, P. Sonneveld, C. Gisselbrecht, J. Y. Cahn, J. L. Harousseau and et al.: Autologous bone marrow transplantation as compared with salvage chemotherapy in relapses of chemotherapy-sensitive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *N Engl J Med*, 333(23), 1540-5 (1995)

5. J. A. Child, G. J. Morgan, F. E. Davies, R. G. Owen, S. E. Bell, K. Hawkins, J. Brown, M. T. Drayson and P. J. Selby: High-dose chemotherapy with hematopoietic stemcell rescue for multiple myeloma. *N Engl J Med*, 348(19), 1875-83 (2003)

6. J. L. Harousseau and P. Moreau: Autologous hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation for multiple myeloma. *N Engl J Med*, 360(25), 2645-54 (2009)

7. J. Koreth, R. Schlenk, K. J. Kopecky, S. Honda, J. Sierra, B. J. Djulbegovic, M. Wadleigh, D. J. DeAngelo, R. M. Stone, H. Sakamaki, F. R. Appelbaum, H. Dohner, J. H. Antin, R. J. Soiffer and C. Cutler: Allogeneic stem cell transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia in first complete remission: systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective clinical trials. *Jama*, 301(22), 2349-61 (2009)

8. R. J. Mattison and R. A. Larson: Role of allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation in adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Curr Opin Oncol*, 21(6), 601-8 (2009)

9. Center for International Blood and Marrow Transplant Research. In,

10. R. A. Abrams, K. McCormack, C. Bowles and A. B. Deisseroth: Cyclophosphamide treatment expands the circulating hematopoietic stem cell pool in dogs. *J Clin Invest*, 67(5), 1392-9 (1981)

11. C. M. Richman, R. S. Weiner and R. A. Yankee: Increase in circulating stem cells following chemotherapy in man. *Blood*, 47(6), 1031-9 (1976)

12. M. A. Socinski, S. A. Cannistra, A. Elias, K. H. Antman, L. Schnipper and J. D. Griffin: Granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor expands the circulating haemopoietic progenitor cell compartment in man. *Lancet*, 1(8596), 1194-8 (1988)

13. A. M. Gianni, S. Siena, M. Bregni, C. Tarella, A. C. Stern, A. Pileri and G. Bonadonna: Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor to harvest circulating haemopoietic stem cells for autotransplantation. *Lancet*, 2(8663), 580-5 (1989)

14. A. Kessinger, J. O. Armitage, J. D. Landmark and D. D. Weisenburger: Reconstitution of human hematopoietic function with autologous cryopreserved circulating stem cells. *Exp Hematol*, 14(3), 192-6 (1986)

15. M. Korbling, B. Dorken, A. D. Ho, A. Pezzutto, W. Hunstein and T. M. Fliedner: Autologous transplantation of blood-derived hemopoietic stem cells after myeloablative therapy in a patient with Burkitt's lymphoma. *Blood*, 67(2), 529-32 (1986)

16. L. C. Lasky, D. D. Hurd, J. A. Smith and R. Haake: Peripheral blood stem cell collection and use in Hodgkin's disease. Comparison with marrow in autologous transplantation. *Transfusion*, 29(4), 323-7 (1989) 17. M. Korbling, D. Przepiorka, Y. O. Huh, H. Engel, K. van Besien, S. Giralt, B. Andersson, H. D. Kleine, D. Seong, A. B. Deisseroth and et al.: Allogeneic blood stem cell transplantation for refractory leukemia and lymphoma: potential advantage of blood over marrow allografts. *Blood*, 85(6), 1659-65 (1995)

18. W. I. Bensinger, C. H. Weaver, F. R. Appelbaum, S. Rowley, T. Demirer, J. Sanders, R. Storb and C. D. Buckner: Transplantation of allogeneic peripheral blood stem cells mobilized by recombinant human granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. *Blood*, 85(6), 1655-8 (1995)

19. W. I. Bensinger, P. J. Martin, B. Storer, R. Clift, S. J. Forman, R. Negrin, A. Kashyap, M. E. Flowers, K. Lilleby, T. R. Chauncey, R. Storb and F. R. Appelbaum: Transplantation of bone marrow as compared with peripheral-blood cells from HLA-identical relatives in patients with hematologic cancers. *N Engl J Med*, 344(3), 175-81 (2001)

20. J. Beyer, N. Schwella, J. Zingsem, I. Strohscheer, I. Schwaner, H. Oettle, S. Serke, D. Huhn and W. Stieger: Hematopoietic rescue after high-dose chemotherapy using autologous peripheral-blood progenitor cells or bone marrow: a randomized comparison. *J Clin Oncol*, 13(6), 1328-35 (1995)

21. H. D. Ottinger, D. W. Beelen, B. Scheulen, U. W. Schaefer and H. Grosse-Wilde: Improved immune reconstitution after allotransplantation of peripheral blood stem cells instead of bone marrow. *Blood*, 88(7), 2775-9 (1996)

22. W. I. Bensinger, K. Longin, F. Appelbaum, S. Rowley, C. Weaver, K. Lilleby, T. Gooley, M. Lynch, T. Higano, J. Klarnet and et al.: Peripheral blood stem cells (PBSCs) collected after recombinant granulocyte colony stimulating factor (rhG-CSF): an analysis of factors correlating with the tempo of engraftment after transplantation. *Br J Haematol*, 87(4), 825-31 (1994)

23. N. Schwella, J. Beyer, I. Schwaner, H. G. Heuft, O. Rick, D. Huhn, S. Serke and W. Siegert: Impact of preleukapheresis cell counts on collection results and correlation of progenitor-cell dose with engraftment after high-dose chemotherapy in patients with germ cell cancer. *J Clin Oncol*, 14(4), 1114-21 (1996)

24. A. P. Jillella and C. Ustun: What is the optimum number of CD34+ peripheral blood stem cells for an autologous transplant? *Stem Cells Dev*, 13(6), 598-606 (2004)

25. C. Sola, P. Maroto, R. Salazar, R. Mesia, L. Mendoza, J. Brunet, A. Lopez-Pousa, J. M. Tabernero, J. Montesinos, C. Pericay, C. Martinez, J. A. Cancelas and J. J. Lopez-Lopez: Bone Marrow Transplantation: Prognostic Factors of Peripheral Blood Stem Cell Mobilization with Cyclophosphamide and Filgrastim (r-metHuG-CSF): The CD34+ Cell Dose Positively Affects the Time to Hematopoietic Recovery and Supportive Requirements

after High-Dose Chemotherapy. *Hematology*, 4(3), 195-209 (1999)

26. B. J. Chen, X. Cui, G. D. Sempowski, J. Domen and N. J. Chao: Hematopoietic stem cell dose correlates with the speed of immune reconstitution after stem cell transplantation. *Blood*, 103(11), 4344-52 (2004)

27. A. A. Toor, J. Ayers, J. Strupeck, M. Parthasarathy, S. Creech, T. Rodriguez and P. J. Stiff: Favourable results with a single autologous stem cell transplant following conditioning with busulphan and cyclophosphamide in patients with multiple myeloma. *Br J Haematol*, 124(6), 769-76 (2004)

28. L. N. Gordan, M. W. Sugrue, J. W. Lynch, K. D. Williams, S. A. Khan, J. R. Wingard and J. S. Moreb: Poor mobilization of peripheral blood stem cells is a risk factor for worse outcome in lymphoma patients undergoing autologous stem cell transplantation. *Leuk Lymphoma*, 44(5), 815-20 (2003)

29. A. Carral, J. de la Rubia, G. Martin, S. Molla, J. Martinez, G. F. Sanz, M. A. Soler, I. Jarque, C. Jimenez and M. A. Sanz: Factors influencing the collection of peripheral blood stem cells in patients with acute myeloblastic leukemia and non-myeloid malignancies. *Leuk Res*, 27(1), 5-12 (2003)

30. R. Haas, R. Mohle, S. Fruhauf, H. Goldschmidt, B. Witt, M. Flentje, M. Wannenmacher and W. Hunstein: Patient characteristics associated with successful mobilizing and autografting of peripheral blood progenitor cells in malignant lymphoma. *Blood*, 83(12), 3787-94 (1994)

31. W. Bensinger, J. F. DiPersio and J. M. McCarty: Improving stem cell mobilization strategies: future directions. *Bone Marrow Transplant*, 43(3), 181-95 (2009)

32. I. Pusic and J. F. DiPersio: The use of growth factors in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Curr Pharm Des*, 14(20), 1950-61 (2008)

33. I. Pusic and J. F. DiPersio: Update on clinical experience with AMD3100, an SDF-1/CXCL12-CXCR4 inhibitor, in mobilization of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. *Curr Opin Hematol*, 17(4), 319-26 (2010)

34. Y. Nakamura, F. Tajima, K. Ishiga, H. Yamazaki, M. Oshimura, G. Shiota and Y. Murawaki: Soluble c-kit receptor mobilizes hematopoietic stem cells to peripheral blood in mice. *Exp Hematol*, 32(4), 390-6 (2004)

35. C. F. Craddock, B. Nakamoto, R. G. Andrews, G. V. Priestley and T. Papayannopoulou: Antibodies to VLA4 integrin mobilize long-term repopulating cells and augment cytokine-induced mobilization in primates and mice. *Blood*, 90(12), 4779-88 (1997)

36. I. Petit, M. Szyper-Kravitz, A. Nagler, M. Lahav, A. Peled, L. Habler, T. Ponomaryov, R. S. Taichman, F.

Arenzana-Seisdedos, N. Fujii, J. Sandbank, D. Zipori and T. Lapidot: G-CSF induces stem cell mobilization by decreasing bone marrow SDF-1 and up-regulating CXCR4. *Nat Immunol*, 3(7), 687-94 (2002)

37. C. L. Semerad, M. J. Christopher, F. Liu, B. Short, P. J. Simmons, I. Winkler, J. P. Levesque, J. Chappel, F. P. Ross and D. C. Link: G-CSF potently inhibits osteoblast activity and CXCL12 mRNA expression in the bone marrow. *Blood*, 106(9), 3020-7 (2005)

38. J. P. Levesque, J. Hendy, Y. Takamatsu, P. J. Simmons and L. J. Bendall: Disruption of the CXCR4/CXCL12 chemotactic interaction during hematopoietic stem cell mobilization induced by GCSF or cyclophosphamide. *J Clin Invest*, 111(2), 187-96 (2003)

39. M. J. Christopher, M. Rao, F. Liu, J. R. Woloszynek and D. C. Link: Expression of the G-CSF receptor in monocytic cells is sufficient to mediate hematopoietic progenitor mobilization by G-CSF in mice. *J Exp Med*, 208(2), 251-60 (2011)

40. C. H. Weaver, K. A. Schulman, B. Wilson-Relyea, R. Birch, W. West and C. D. Buckner: Randomized trial of filgrastim, sargramostim, or sequential sargramostim and filgrastim after myelosuppressive chemotherapy for the harvesting of peripheral-blood stem cells. *J Clin Oncol*, 18(1), 43-53 (2000)

41. Y. Gazitt: Comparison between granulocyte colonystimulating factor and granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor in the mobilization of peripheral blood stem cells. *Curr Opin Hematol*, 9(3), 190-8 (2002)

42. S. Lonial, M. Hicks, H. Rosenthal, A. Langston, I. Redei, C. Torre, M. Duenzl, B. Feinstein, J. Cherry and E. K. Waller: A randomized trial comparing the combination of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor versus granulocyte colony-stimulating factor for mobilization of dendritic cell subsets in hematopoietic progenitor cell products. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*, 10(12), 848-57 (2004)

43. N. Schmitz, D. C. Linch, P. Dreger, A. H. Goldstone, M. A. Boogaerts, A. Ferrant, H. M. Demuynck, H. Link, A. Zander and A. Barge: Randomised trial of filgrastim-mobilised peripheral blood progenitor cell transplantation versus autologous bone-marrow transplantation in lymphoma patients. *Lancet*, 347(8998), 353-7 (1996)

44. A. Chow, D. Lucas, A. Hidalgo, S. Mendez-Ferrer, D. Hashimoto, C. Scheiermann, M. Battista, M. Leboeuf, C. Prophete, N. van Rooijen, M. Tanaka, M. Merad and P. S. Frenette: Bone marrow CD169+ macrophages promote the retention of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells in the mesenchymal stem cell niche. *J Exp Med*, 208(2), 261-71 (2011)

45. J. P. Levesque, F. Liu, P. J. Simmons, T. Betsuyaku, R. M. Senior, C. Pham and D. C. Link: Characterization of hematopoietic progenitor mobilization in protease-deficient mice. *Blood*, 104(1), 65-72 (2004)

46. A. Alegre, J. F. Tomas, C. Martinez-Chamorro, J. J. Gil-Fernandez, M. J. Fernandez-Villalta, R. Arranz, M. A. Diaz, A. Granda, M. R. Bernardo, A. Escudero, J. L. Lopez-Lorenzo and J. M. Fernandez-Ranada: Comparison of peripheral blood progenitor cell mobilization in patients with multiple myeloma: high-dose cyclophosphamide plus GM-CSF vs G-CSF alone. *Bone Marrow Transplant*, 20(3), 211-7 (1997)

47. U. Narayanasami, R. Kanteti, J. Morelli, A. Klekar, A. Al-Olama, C. Keating, C. O'Connor, E. Berkman, J. K. Erban, K. A. Sprague, K. B. Miller and D. P. Schenkein: Randomized trial of filgrastim versus chemotherapy and filgrastim mobilization of hematopoietic progenitor cells for rescue in autologous transplantation. *Blood*, 98(7), 2059-64 (2001)

48. I. N. Micallef, J. Apostolidis, A. Z. Rohatiner, C. Wiggins, C. R. Crawley, J. M. Foran, M. Leonhardt, M. Bradburn, E. Okukenu, A. Salam, J. Matthews, J. D. Cavenagh, R. K. Gupta and T. A. Lister: Factors which predict unsuccessful mobilisation of peripheral blood progenitor cells following G-CSF alone in patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Hematol J*, 1(6), 367-73 (2000)

49. K. R. Desikan, B. Barlogie, S. Jagannath, D. H. Vesole, D. Siegel, A. Fassas, N. Munshi, S. Singhal, J. Mehta, S. Tindle, J. Nelson, D. Bracy, S. Mattox and G. Tricot: Comparable engraftment kinetics following peripheral-blood stem-cell infusion mobilized with granulocyte colony-stimulating factor with or without cyclophosphamide in multiple myeloma. *J Clin Oncol*, 16(4), 1547-53 (1998)

50. I. Pusic, S. Y. Jiang, S. Landua, G. L. Uy, M. P. Rettig, A. F. Cashen, P. Westervelt, R. Vij, C. N. Abboud, K. E. Stockerl-Goldstein, D. S. Sempek, A. L. Smith and J. F. DiPersio: Impact of mobilization and remobilization strategies on achieving sufficient stem cell yields for autologous transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*, 14(9), 1045-56 (2008)

51. C. Dazzi, A. Cariello, G. Rosti, M. Argnani, L. Sebastiani, E. Ferrari, L. Zornetta, G. Monti, P. Nicoletti, M. Baioni, M. Salvucci, E. Scarpi and M. Marangolo: Is there any difference in PBPC mobilization between cyclophosphamide plus G-CSF and G-CSF alone in patients with non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma? *Leuk Lymphoma*, 39(3-4), 301-10 (2000)

52. S. Hatse, K. Princen, G. Bridger, E. De Clercq and D. Schols: Chemokine receptor inhibition by AMD3100 is strictly confined to CXCR4. *FEBS Lett*, 527(1-3), 255-62 (2002)

53. L. O. Gerlach, R. T. Skerlj, G. J. Bridger and T. W. Schwartz: Molecular interactions of cyclam and bicyclam

non-peptide antagonists with the CXCR4 chemokine receptor. *J Biol Chem*, 276(17), 14153-60 (2001)

54. J. F. DiPersio, G. L. Uy, U. Yasothan and P. Kirkpatrick: Plerixafor. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, 8(2), 105-6 (2009)

55. D. Schols, S. Struyf, J. Van Damme, J. A. Este, G. Henson and E. De Clercq: Inhibition of T-tropic HIV strains by selective antagonization of the chemokine receptor CXCR4. *J Exp Med*, 186(8), 1383-8 (1997)

56. E. De Clercq, N. Yamamoto, R. Pauwels, J. Balzarini, M. Witvrouw, K. De Vreese, Z. Debyser, B. Rosenwirth, P. Peichl, R. Datema and et al.: Highly potent and selective inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus by the bicyclam derivative JM3100. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 38(4), 668-74 (1994)

57. C. W. Hendrix, C. Flexner, R. T. MacFarland, C. Giandomenico, E. J. Fuchs, E. Redpath, G. Bridger and G. W. Henson: Pharmacokinetics and safety of AMD-3100, a novel antagonist of the CXCR-4 chemokine receptor, in human volunteers. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 44(6), 1667-73 (2000)

58. C. W. Hendrix, A. C. Collier, M. M. Lederman, D. Schols, R. B. Pollard, S. Brown, J. B. Jackson, R. W. Coombs, M. J. Glesby, C. W. Flexner, G. J. Bridger, K. Badel, R. T. MacFarland, G. W. Henson and G. Calandra: Safety, pharmacokinetics, and antiviral activity of AMD3100, a selective CXCR4 receptor inhibitor, in HIV-1 infection. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*, 37(2), 1253-62 (2004)

59. W. C. Liles, H. E. Broxmeyer, E. Rodger, B. Wood, K. Hubel, S. Cooper, G. Hangoc, G. J. Bridger, G. W. Henson, G. Calandra and D. C. Dale: Mobilization of hematopoietic progenitor cells in healthy volunteers by AMD3100, a CXCR4 antagonist. *Blood*, 102(8), 2728-30 (2003)

60. W. C. Liles, E. Rodger, H. E. Broxmeyer, C. Dehner, K. Badel, G. Calandra, J. Christensen, B. Wood, T. H. Price and D. C. Dale: Augmented mobilization and collection of CD34+ hematopoietic cells from normal human volunteers stimulated with granulocyte-colony-stimulating factor by single-dose administration of AMD3100, a CXCR4 antagonist. *Transfusion*, 45(3), 295-300 (2005)

61. S. M. Devine, N. Flomenberg, D. H. Vesole, J. Liesveld, D. Weisdorf, K. Badel, G. Calandra and J. F. DiPersio: Rapid mobilization of CD34+ cells following administration of the CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 to patients with multiple myeloma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *J Clin Oncol*, 22(6), 1095-102 (2004)

62. N. Flomenberg, S. M. Devine, J. F. Dipersio, J. L. Liesveld, J. M. McCarty, S. D. Rowley, D. H. Vesole, K. Badel and G. Calandra: The use of AMD3100 plus G-CSF

for autologous hematopoietic progenitor cell mobilization is superior to G-CSF alone. *Blood*, 106(5), 1867-74 (2005)

63. G. Calandra, J. McCarty, J. McGuirk, G. Tricot, S. A. Crocker, K. Badel, B. Grove, A. Dye and G. Bridger: AMD3100 plus G-CSF can successfully mobilize CD34+ cells from non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, Hodgkin's disease and multiple myeloma patients previously failing mobilization with chemotherapy and/or cytokine treatment: compassionate use data. *Bone Marrow Transplant*, 41(4), 331-8 (2008)

64. A. Cashen, S. Lopez, F. Gao, G. Calandra, R. MacFarland, K. Badel and J. DiPersio: A phase II study of plerixafor (AMD3100) plus G-CSF for autologous hematopoietic progenitor cell mobilization in patients with Hodgkin lymphoma. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*, 14(11), 1253-61 (2008)

65. C. J. Fowler, A. Dunn, B. Hayes-Lattin, K. Hansen, L. Hansen, K. Lanier, V. Nelson, T. Kovacsovics, J. Leis, G. Calandra and R. T. Maziarz: Rescue from failed growth factor and/or chemotherapy HSC mobilization with G-CSF and plerixafor (AMD3100): an institutional experience. *Bone Marrow Transplant*, 43(12), 909-17 (2009)

66. P. Stiff, I. Micallef, P. McCarthy, M. Magalhaes-Silverman, D. Weisdorf, M. Territo, K. Badel and G. Calandra: Treatment with plerixafor in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and multiple myeloma patients to increase the number of peripheral blood stem cells when given a mobilizing regimen of G-CSF: implications for the heavily pretreated patient. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*, 15(2), 249-56 (2009)

67. D. A. Stewart, C. Smith, R. MacFarland and G. Calandra: Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of plerixafor in patients with non-Hodgkin lymphoma and multiple myeloma. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*, 15(1), 39-46 (2009)

68. J. F. DiPersio, I. N. Micallef, P. J. Stiff, B. J. Bolwell, R. T. Maziarz, E. Jacobsen, A. Nademanee, J. McCarty, G. Bridger and G. Calandra: Phase III prospective randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial of plerixafor plus granulocyte colony-stimulating factor compared with placebo plus granulocyte colony-stimulating factor for autologous stem-cell mobilization and transplantation for patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *J Clin Oncol*, 27(28), 4767-73 (2009)

69. J. F. DiPersio, E. A. Stadtmauer, A. Nademanee, I. N. Micallef, P. J. Stiff, J. L. Kaufman, R. T. Maziarz, C. Hosing, S. Fruehauf, M. Horwitz, D. Cooper, G. Bridger and G. Calandra: Plerixafor and G-CSF versus placebo and G-CSF to mobilize hematopoietic stem cells for autologous stem cell transplantation in patients with multiple myeloma. *Blood*, 113(23), 5720-6 (2009)

70. I. N. Micallef, P. J. Stiff, J. F. DiPersio, R. T. Maziarz, J. M. McCarty, G. Bridger and G. Calandra: Successful stem cell remobilization using plerixafor (mozobil) plus

granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in patients with nonhodgkin lymphoma: results from the plerixafor NHL phase 3 study rescue protocol. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*, 15(12), 1578-86 (2009)

71. A. Larochelle, A. Krouse, M. Metzger, D. Orlic, R. E. Donahue, S. Fricker, G. Bridger, C. E. Dunbar and P. Hematti: AMD3100 mobilizes hematopoietic stem cells with long-term repopulating capacity in nonhuman primates. *Blood*, 107(9), 3772-8 (2006)

72. S. Fruehauf, M. R. Veldwijk, T. Seeger, M. Schubert, S. Laufs, J. Topaly, P. Wuchter, F. Dillmann, V. Eckstein, F. Wenz, H. Goldschmidt, A. D. Ho and G. Calandra: A combination of granulocyte-colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) and plerixafor mobilizes more primitive peripheral blood progenitor cells than G-CSF alone: results of a European phase II study. *Cytotherapy*, 11(8), 992-1001 (2009)

73. R. E. Donahue, P. Jin, A. C. Bonifacino, M. E. Metzger, J. Ren, E. Wang and D. F. Stroncek: Plerixafor (AMD3100) and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) mobilize different CD34+ cell populations based on global gene and microRNA expression signatures. *Blood*, 114(12), 2530-41 (2009)

74. S. M. Devine, R. Vij, M. Rettig, L. Todt, K. McGlauchlen, N. Fisher, H. Devine, D. C. Link, G. Calandra, G. Bridger, P. Westervelt and J. F. Dipersio: Rapid mobilization of functional donor hematopoietic cells without G-CSF using AMD3100, an antagonist of the CXCR4/SDF-1 interaction. *Blood*, 112(4), 990-8 (2008)

75. E. H. Jie Li, Louette Vaughn, Michael Graiser, Heather Renfroe, Mary, M. Jo Lechowicz, Amelia Langston, MD, Jefferson Mark Prichard, MD, Darlene, C. G. Anderson, Sagar Lonial, MD, Christopher R Flowers, MD, MS, and M. a. E. K. W. Jonathan L. Kaufman, MD, PhD: Effectiveness and Cost Analysis of a "Just-In-Time" Salvage Plerixafor Administration in Autologous Transplant Patients with Poor Stem Cell Mobilization Kinetics. *Transfusion (in press)* (2011)

Key Words: Plerixafor, Mozobil, CXCR4 antagonists, AMD3100, Stem Cell Mobilization, Peripheral Blood Stem Cell Transplantation, Review

Send correspondence to: Mahaseth Hemchandra, Winship Cancer Institute, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, Tel: 404-778-135, E-mail: hmahase@emory.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol4S.htm